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Preface




  About fiction and non-fiction: some words about


  India:A Million Mutinies Now





  INDIA: A MILLION MUTINIES NOW is a long book, one of my longest. Long books (it

  has to be said) are harder to write than short books, and I have more than a certain regard for this one. Twenty years after the writing I still have a clear memory of the labour and the

  ambition.




  I thought when I began to write that I would do fiction alone. To be a writer of the imagination seemed to me the noblest thing. But after a few books I saw that my material – the matter

  in my head, the matter in the end given me by my background – would not support that ambition.




  The ambition itself had been given me by what I knew of the great nineteenth-century novels of Europe, or what I thought I knew of them. I put it in that cautious way because before I began to

  write I actually hadn’t read a great deal. I saw now – something I suppose I had always sensed but never worked out as an idea – that those novels had come out of societies more

  compartmented, more intellectually ordered and full of conviction than the one I found myself in. To pretend that I came out of a society as complete and ordered would in some ways have made

  writing easier. The order I am talking about is, to put it at its simplest, the order, the fenced-in setting, that underpins the television situation comedy. The rules of the fenced-in world are

  few and easily understood; the messy outside world doesn’t intrude to undo the magic. I could have tried to write like that. But I would not have got very far. I would have had to simplify

  too much, leave out a lot. It would have been to deny what I saw as my task as a writer.




  I had to be true to my own world. It was more fluid, harder to pin down and to present to a reader in any accepted, nineteenth-century way. Every simple statement I could make about myself or my

  family or background had to be qualified in some way.




  I was born in 1932 on the other side of the Atlantic in the British colony of Trinidad. Trinidad was an outcrop of Venezuela and South America. It was a small island, essentially agricultural

  when I was born (Trinidad, like Venezuela, had oil, which was beginning to be developed). It had a racially mixed population of perhaps half a million, with my own immigrant Asian Indian community

  (finely divided by religion, education, money, caste background) about a hundred and fifty thousand. (I have rehearsed these matters elsewhere, but I feel they should be stated here again, for this

  occasion.)




  I had no great love for the place, no love for its colonial smallness. I saw myself as a castaway from the world’s old civilisations, and I wished to be part of that bigger world as soon

  as possible. An academic scholarship in 1950, when I was eighteen, enabled me to leave. I went to England to do a university course, with the ambition afterwards of being a writer. I never in any

  real sense went back.




  So my world as a writer was full of flight and unfinished experience, full of the odds and ends of cultures and migrations, from India to the New World in 1880–1900, from the New World to

  Europe in 1950, things that didn’t make a whole. There was nothing like the stability of the rooted societies that had produced the great fictions of the nineteenth century, in which, for

  example, even a paragraph of a fairytale or parable by Tolstoy could suggest a whole real world. And soon, as I have said, I saw myself at the end of the scattered island material I carried with

  me.




  But writing was my vocation; I had never wished to be anything but a writer. My practice as a writer had deepened the fascination with people and narrative which I had always had, and

  increasingly now, in the larger world I had wanted to join, that fascination was turning into a wish to understand the currents of history that had created the fluidity of which I found myself a

  part. It was necessary for me as a writer to engage with the larger world. I didn’t know how to set about it; there was no example I could follow.




  The practice of fiction couldn’t help me. Fiction is best done from within and out of great knowledge. In the larger world I was an outsider; I didn’t know enough and would never

  know enough. After much hesitation and uncertainty I saw that I had to deal with this world in the most direct way. I had to go against my practice as a fiction-writer. I had to use the tools I had

  developed to record my experience as truthfully as possible. So there came this divide in my writing: free-ranging fiction and scrupulous non-fiction, one supporting and feeding the other,

  complementary aspects of my wish to get to grips with my world. And though I had started with the idea of the nobility of the writer of the imagination, I do not now rate one way above the

  other.




  In the practising of this new way I had to deal first of all with my ancestral land, India. I was not an insider, even after many months of travel; nor could I consider myself an outsider: India

  and the idea of India had always been important to me. So I was always divided about India, and found it hard to say a final word. In all I have written three books about India. They are

  non-fiction, as they had to be, but they are as personal and varied and deeply felt as any work of fiction could be. India: A Million Mutinies Now was the third of those Indian books. It was

  written twenty-six years after the first. It had taken the writer all that time to go beyond personal discovery and pain, and analysis, to arrive at the simple and overwhelming idea that the most

  important thing about India, the thing to be gone into and understood, and not seen from the outside, was the people.




  The book was dedicated to a further idea: that India was, in the simplest way, on the move, that all over the vast country men and women had moved out of the cramped ways and expectations of

  their parents and grandparents, and were expecting more. This was the ‘million mutinies’ of the title; it was not guerrilla wars all round. Nearly every English-speaker would have some

  idea of the brief Indian Mutiny of 1857 when some mercenary Indian soldiers of the British East India Company, confused and angry, but with no clear end in view, mutinied against the British. The

  million mutinies of my title suggests that what is happening now is a truer and more general way ahead.




  This seems a reasonable thing to say now, in 2010, at the time of an acknowledged Indian boom. It was different in 1988, when I began the book. India was full of a pietistic Gandhian gloom,

  self-satisfied and rather happy as this kind of gloom often is in India. The talk among the talkers in the towns was of degeneracy, a falling away from the standards of earlier times: politics were

  being criminalised, and there was corruption everywhere. Standard stuff, not profound, not based on any real knowledge of the country; but it could undermine one. It was the background against

  which I worked out my idea of the mutinies.




  The idea didn’t come to me out of the air. I had done a lot of hard travelling in India in the past twenty-six years. As a writer, a free man, I had picked up a more varied knowledge of

  the country than most Indians, who were bound to their families and jobs. I had spent many weeks in the districts, away from the big towns. With the help and hospitality of Indian friends and

  officials I had been able in various places to enter, if only for a week or two at a time, the life of the bare and sometimes forbidding Indian countryside. I had been granted some knowledge of

  small-town life. I had not always written of what I had seen. So my experience had banked up, and the idea now came to me of expanding on that experience and doing a large book, full of people, an

  Indian panorama which (since I believe that the present, accurately seized, foretells the future) would contain or explain in a broad way most of what might happen in the country for the next

  twenty or thirty years. This was what I told my English publishers. They liked the idea; they bought it after ten minutes, quite literally; and not many days after that I found myself in the Taj

  Mahal Hotel in Bombay, marvelling at my ambition, and not really sure how I was to come to a human understanding of the enormous city (such an apparently impenetrable afternoon crowd just outside,

  moving about the Gateway of India, beside the tarnished Arabian Sea). And, of course, behind the city there was the country: memories for me, alarming now, of endless sunstruck journeys by road and

  rail.




  I had four blank, frightening days in the glamorous hotel, during which I did the dispiriting thing of keeping a self-conscious journal with nothing to say. I didn’t like the journal form;

  it blurred vision. I preferred distance, and the sifting of memory. The comparison that comes to mind now is that of Ibsen, still more poet than playwright, struggling to keep a journal on his trip

  to the opening of the Suez Canal in 1869. Momentous days, fabulous sights: made for a journal, one would have thought; but it must have fatigued Ibsen to be on the outside, dealing only with the

  externals of things; and he simply stopped. In some such way in Bombay I broke down and gave my dour journal up; and looked around to make another kind of start.




  A big board in the hotel lobby advertised a resident or ‘in-house’ fortune-teller; I was often tempted in those four days to go for a reading, to find out whether I would do the

  book. I didn’t have to do that. One does more in anxiety than one suspects. The book did get started – ‘Bombay is a crowd’ is the opening line I alighted on – and then

  it moved fast.




  Ideas are abstract. They become books only when they are clothed with people and narrative. The reader, once he has entered this book and goes beyond the opening pages, finds himself in a double

  narrative. There is the immediate narrative of the person to whom we are being introduced; there is the larger outer narrative in which all the varied pieces of the book are going to fit together.

  Nothing is done at random. Serious travel is an art, even if no writing is contemplated; and the special art in this book lay in divining who of the many people I met would best and most logically

  take my story forward, where nothing had to be forced.




  I had to depend on local people for introductions, and it was not always easy to make clear what I was looking for. Many people, trained in journalistic ways, thought I was looking for

  ‘spokesmen’ for various interests. I was in fact looking for something profounder and more intrusive: someone’s lived experience (if I can so put it) that would illuminate some

  aspect, some new turn, in the old country’s unceasing adjustment to new thought, new politics, new ideas of business. So in this book one kind of experience grows out of another, one theme

  develops out of another.




  Part of my luck was the decision, made for no clear reason one day in the Taj Mahal Hotel in Bombay, to do the religiously inauspicious Indian thing and travel round India in an anti-clockwise

  direction. To have gone the other way, north, to Delhi and Calcutta and the Punjab would have been to get to the meat of the book too quickly, to leave the rest of the country hanging on, in a kind

  of anti-climax. To go south first, as I did, was to deal in a fresh way with important things like the influence of caste on the development of Indian science, the little-known century-long caste

  war of the south, the dispossession of the Brahmins. This could be said to prepare the reader (and the writer) for the disturbances of the north: the British in Calcutta, Lucknow, Delhi: all the

  history of the past century, just below the present.




  I have often been asked about my note-taking method during the actual time of travel. I used no tape-recorder; I used pen and notebook alone. Since I was never sure whether someone I was meeting

  would serve my purpose I depended in the beginning very often on simple conversation. I never frightened anyone by showing a notebook. If I found I was hearing something I needed I would tell the

  person I wanted to take down his words at a later time. At this later time I would get the person to repeat what he had said and what I half knew. I took it all down in handwriting, making a note

  as I did so of the setting, the speaker, and my own questions. It invariably happened that the speaker, seeing me take it all down by hand, spoke more slowly and thoughtfully this second time, and

  yet his words had the rhythm of normal speech. An amazing amount could be done in an hour. I changed nothing, smoothed over nothing.




  Ambitious and difficult books are not always successful. But it remains to be said that in paperback in England this book has been reprinted thirty-five times. I marvel at the luck.
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  BOMBAY THEATRE




  BOMBAY is a crowd. But I began to feel, when I was some way into the city from the airport that morning, that the crowd on the pavement and the road was

  very great, and that something unusual might be happening.




  Traffic into the city moved slowly because of the crowd. When at certain intersections the traffic was halted, by lights or by policemen or by the two together, the pavements seethed the more,

  and such a torrent of people swept across the road, in such a bouncing froth of light-coloured lightweight clothes, it seemed that some kind of invisible sluice-gate had been opened, and that if it

  wasn’t closed again the flow of road-crossers would spread everywhere, and the beaten-up red buses and yellow-and-black taxis would be quite becalmed, each at the centre of a human eddy.




  With me, in the taxi, were fumes and heat and din. The sun burned; there was little air; the grit from the bus exhausts began to stick to my skin. It would have been worse for the people on the

  road and the pavements. But many of them seemed freshly bathed, with fresh puja marks on their foreheads; many of them seemed to be in their best clothes: Bombay people celebrating an important new

  day, perhaps.




  I asked the driver whether it was a public holiday. He didn’t understand my question, and I let it be.




  Bombay continued to define itself: Bombay flats on either side of the road now, concrete buildings mildewed at their upper levels by the Bombay weather, excessive sun, excessive rain, excessive

  heat; grimy at the lower levels, as if from the crowds at pavement level, and as if that human grime was working its way up, tide-mark by tide-mark, to meet the mildew.




  The shops, even when small, even when dingy, had big, bright signboards, many-coloured, inventive, accomplished, the work of men with a feeling for both Roman and Sanskrit (or Devanagari)

  letters. Often, in front of these shops, and below those signboards, was just dirt; from time to time depressed-looking, dark people could be seen sitting down on this dirt and eating, indifferent

  to everything but their food.




  There were big film posters on billboards, and smaller ones repeating on lamp-posts. It was hard, just at this moment of arrival, to relate the romance the posters promised to the people on the

  ground. And harder to place the English-language advertisements for banks and airlines and the Times of India Sesquicentennial (‘Good Times, Sad Times, Changing Times’): to the

  stranger just arrived after a night flight, the city suggested by those advertisements was like an almost unimaginable distillation – a special, rich liquor – of the humanity that was

  on view.




  The crowd continued. And then I saw that a good part of this crowd was a long queue or line of people, three or four or five deep, on the other pavement. The line was being added to all the

  time; and though for stretches it appeared to be standing still, it was moving very slowly. I realised I had been driving past the line for some time; perhaps, then, the line was already a mile

  long. The line was broken at road intersections: policemen in khaki uniforms were keeping the side roads clear.




  What were these people waiting for? What was their chance of getting what they wanted? They seemed peaceable and content, even in the sun and the brown smoke of exhausts. They were in good

  clothes, simple, Indian-style clothes. People joining the line came almost at a trot; then they became patient; they seemed prepared to wait a long time. I had missed the beginning of the line. I

  didn’t know what lay there. A circus? I believe there had been posters for a circus earlier on the road. An appearance by film stars? But the people in the line didn’t show that kind of

  eagerness. They were small, dark, patient people, serious, and in their best clothes; and it came back to me that somewhere along the line earlier there had been flags and emblems of some sort.




  I was told, when I got to the hotel in downtown Bombay, that there was no public holiday that day. And though the crowd had seemed to me great, and the line quite remarkable, something the

  newspapers might have mentioned, the hotel people I spoke to couldn’t tell me what the line might have been for. What had been a big event for so many thousands somewhere in mid-town Bombay

  had sent no ripple here.




  I telephoned an acquaintance, a writer. He knew as little as the hotel people. He said he hadn’t been out that morning; he had been at home, writing an article for Debonair. Later,

  when he had finished his article, he telephoned me. He said he had two theories. The first theory was that the people I had seen might have been lining up for telephone directories. There had been

  trouble about the delivery of new directories – Bombay was Bombay. The second theory was something he had had from his servant woman. She had come in after I had telephoned, and she had told

  him that that day was the birthday of Dr Ambedkar, and that there was a big celebration in the suburb I had passed on my way from the airport.




  Dr Ambedkar had been the great leader of the people once known in India as the untouchables. He had been more important to them than Mahatma Gandhi. In his time he had known honour and power; he

  had been law minister in the first government of independent India, and he had drafted the Indian constitution; but he had remained embittered to the end. It was Dr Ambedkar who had encouraged the

  untouchables – the harijans, the children of God, as Gandhi called them, and now the Dalits, as they called themselves – to abandon Hinduism, which had enslaved them, and to turn

  to Buddhism. Before his thought could change or develop, he died, in 1956.




  No leader of comparable authority or esteem had risen among the castes for whom Dr Ambedkar spoke. He had remained their leader, the man they honoured above all others; he was almost their

  deity. In every Dalit house, I had been told, there was a photograph of Dr Ambedkar. It was a photograph I had seen many times, and it was strange that a better photograph hadn’t been used.

  The Ambedkar icon was like a grey passport photograph reproduced in an old-fashioned newspaper process: the leader reduced to a composition of black and white dots, frozen in an image of the 1940s

  or 1950s, a plumpish man of unmemorable features, with the glasses of a student, and in the semi-colonial respectability of jacket and tie. Jacket and tie made for an unlikely holy image in India.

  But it was fitting, because it went against the homespun and loincloth of the mahatma.




  The Dr Ambedkar idea seemed better than the idea about the telephone directories. There had, indeed, been a religious stillness about the people in the line. They had been like people gaining

  merit through doing the right thing. The Dr Ambedkar idea made sense of the flags and the emblems of which I had had a memory. The people I had seen were honouring their leader, their saint, their

  deity; and by this they were honouring themselves as well.




  Later that day I talked to an official of the hotel. He asked for my impressions of Bombay. When I told him about the Ambedkar crowd, he was for a moment like a man taken aback. He was at a loss

  for words. Then, irritation and unhappiness breaking through his well-bred hotel manner, he said, ‘The country’s going from bad to worse.’




  It was a version of what I had heard many times about India; India had changed; it was not the good and stable country it had once been. In the days of the freedom movement,

  political workers, honouring Gandhi, had worn homespun as an emblem of sacrifice and service, their oneness with the poor. Now the politician’s homespun stood for power. With

  industrialization and economic growth people had forgotten old reverences. Men honoured only money now. The great investment in development over three or four decades had led only to this: to

  ‘corruption’, to the ‘criminalization of politics’. In seeking to rise, India had undone itself. No one could be sure of anything now; all was fluid. Policeman, thief,

  politician: the roles had become interchangeable. And with money – the money of which the crowded, ugly skyscraper towers of Bombay spoke – many long-buried particularities had been

  released. These disruptive, lesser loyalties – of region, caste, and clan – now played on the surface of Indian life.




  The Dalits, for instance. If they had still been only the mahatma’s harijans, children of God, people for whom good things might be done, objects of sentiment and a passing piety, an

  occasion like the morning’s Ambedkar anniversary wouldn’t have given anyone thoughts of a world about to undo itself. But a certain amount of money had come to the people once known as

  harijans, a certain amount of education, and with that there had also come the group sense and political consciousness. They had ceased to be abstractions. They had begun to do things for

  themselves. They had become people stressing their own particularity, just as better-off groups in India stressed their particularities.




  And the Dalit particularity was perhaps not the most important one in the city of Bombay. Just outside the hotel was the Gateway of India. This was a British monument: a high, magnificent arch,

  commemorating the arrival in India in 1911 of the King-Emperor, George V. The imperial associations of the arch were now absorbed into the poetic idea of the gateway; and the paved open area around

  it was a popular afternoon promenade. On either side of that imperial monument simple and quite small signboards had been put up, with one word in the Devanagari script, black on white –

  giving the name of the city as Mumbai rather than ‘Bombay’.




  Those Mumbai boards spoke of an internal fight. Bombay was a cosmopolitan city. That was how it had been from the start, and that was how it had developed; it had drawn people from all

  over the sub-continent. But, in independent India, Bombay had found itself in the state of Maharashtra; and in the mid-1960s a Maharashtrian regional movement had started. This movement wanted

  Maharashtra to be for the Maharashtrians. In the beginning the movement’s hostility had been aimed mainly at poor migrants from South India; but other people had felt threatened as well. The

  movement was known as the Shiv Sena, the Army of Shiva, taking its name from Shivaji, the 17th-century warrior-leader of the Maratha people. The newspapers had been critical; they called the Sena

  ‘fascist’. But the Sena had not ceased to grow. Two years before, it had won control of the Bombay Municipal Corporation.




  The corporation building was in the confident Victorian-Gothic style of British Bombay. A wide, solid staircase, with Victorian metalwork below a polished timber banister, led to the council

  chamber. The walls there were half-panelled in a rich red-brown wood, and the desks and chairs were set in arcs and semi-circles around the mayoral chair. The councillors’ chairs were

  upholstered in green. But the mayoral chair had a saffron cover. Saffron is a Hindu colour, and here it was the colour of the Shiv Sena. Saffron satin filled the Gothic arch below the gallery on

  one end wall of the chamber. In front of the saffron satin was a bronze-coloured bust of Shivaji; above the bust, on the satin, were a round shield and crossed swords, also in a bronze colour.




  High up on the wall at the back of the mayoral chair, and above the Gothic arches (springing from grey marble columns), were portraits of famous old Indian mayors of Bombay from colonial days.

  The men in the portraits were dignified; they wore wigs or Parsi caps or Hindu turbans or Muslim turbans. The dignity of those men, and the nationalist pride their dignity would once have

  encouraged, had now been superseded.




  The council chamber was so perfect in its way, so confident, its architectural details so considered, it was hard to imagine that it had all been negated by the simple saffron of the Sena. It

  made me think of the Christian cathedral in Nicosia in Cyprus, taken over by the Muslims, cleansed of much of its furniture, and hung with Koranic banners. It made me think of the Marathas of the

  17th century, in the vacuum between the Moguls and British, raiding as far north as Delhi, as far east as Bengal, and setting Maratha rulers on the throne of Tanjore in the far south.




  The visitor, coming into Bombay from the airport, might see only small dark men in an undifferentiated crowd, and dust and fumes; might see, between the concrete blocks, a mess of makeshift huts

  and the parasitic shelters those huts spawned, one kind of dependence leading down into another; might see what looked like the unending smallness of men. But here in the corporation chamber, in

  the saffron and crossed swords of the Sena, were the emblems of war and conquest.




  It made the independence struggle seem like an interim. Independence had come to India like a kind of revolution; now there were many revolutions within that revolution. What was true of Bombay

  was true of other parts of India as well: of the state of Andhra, of Tamil Nadu, Assam, the Punjab. All over India scores of particularities that had been frozen by foreign rule, or by poverty or

  lack of opportunity or abjectness, had begun to flow again. And it was easy to see how someone like the man in the hotel, who had grown up with another idea of India and its development, could feel

  alienated and insecure.




  Some such feeling of alienation I had known myself when I had first gone to India, in 1962. That had been a special journey for me: I had gone as the descendant of

  19th-century indentured Indian emigrants. Such emigrants had been recruited from the 1860s on, mainly from the eastern Gangetic plain, and then sent out from depots in Calcutta to work on five-year

  indentures on plantations in various parts of the British Empire and even elsewhere. People like my ancestors had gone to Fiji in the Pacific; Mauritius in the Indian Ocean; South Africa; and to

  some of the territories in the West Indies, principally the Guianas (British Guiana and Dutch Guiana) and Trinidad. It was to Trinidad that my ancestors went, starting some time in the 1880s, as I

  work it out.




  These overseas Indian groups were mixed. They were miniature Indias, with Hindus and Muslims, and people of different castes. They were disadvantaged, without representation, and without a

  political tradition. They were isolated by language and culture from the people they found themselves among; they were isolated, too, from India itself (many weeks away by steamboat from Trinidad

  and the Guianas). In these special circumstances they developed something they would never have known in India: a sense of belonging to an Indian community. This feeling of community could override

  religion and caste.




  It was this idea of an Indian community that, near the end of the last century, the thirty-year-old Gandhi – at that time hardly with a political or historical or literary idea –

  discovered when he went to South Africa and began to work among the Indian immigrants there. And it was during his 15 years in South Africa that intimations came to Gandhi of an all-India

  religious-political mission.




  I was born in 1932, 15 years before the independence of India. I grew up with two ideas of India. The first idea – not one I wanted to go into too closely – was about the kind of

  country from which my ancestors had come. We were an agricultural people. Most of us in Trinidad were still working on the colonial sugar estates, and for most of us life was poor; many of us lived

  in thatched, mud-walled huts. Migration to the New World, shaking us out of the immemorial accepting ways of peasant India, had made us ambitious; but in colonial and agricultural Trinidad, during

  the Depression, there were few opportunities to rise. With this poverty around us, and with this sense of the world as a kind of prison (the barriers down against us everywhere), the India from

  which my ancestors had migrated to better themselves became in my imagination a most fearful place. This India was private and personal, beyond the India I read about in newspapers and books. This

  India, or this anxiety about where we had come from, was like a neurosis.




  There was a second India. It balanced the first. This second India was the India of the independence movement, the India of the great names. It was also the India of the great civilization and

  the great classical past. It was the India by which, in all the difficulties of our circumstances, we felt supported. It was an aspect of our identity, the community identity we had developed,

  which, in multi-racial Trinidad, had become more like a racial identity.




  This was the identity I took to India on my first visit in 1962. And when I got there I found it had no meaning in India. The idea of an Indian community – in effect, a continental idea of

  our Indian identity – made sense only when the community was very small, a minority, and isolated. In the torrent of India, with its hundreds of millions, where the threat was of chaos and

  the void, that continental idea was no comfort at all. People needed to hold on to smaller ideas of who and what they were; they found stability in the smaller groupings of region, clan, caste,

  family.




  They were groupings I could hardly understand. They would have given me no comfort at all in Trinidad, would have provided no balance for the other India I carried as a neurosis, the India of

  poverty and an abjectness too fearful to imagine. Such an India I did now find, in 1962; and, with my idea of an Indian identity, I couldn’t be reconciled to it. The poverty of the Indian

  streets and the countryside was an affront and a threat, a scratching at my old neurosis. Two generations separated me from that kind of poverty; but I felt closer to it than most of the Indians I

  met.




  In 1962, in spite of five-year plans and universal suffrage, and talk of socialism and the common man, I found that for most Indians Indian poverty was still a poetic concept, a prompting to

  piety and sweet melancholy, part of the country’s uniqueness, its Gandhian non-materialism.




  An editor of an economic weekly, a good and dedicated man who became a friend, said to me in Bombay, when we talked of the untouchables, ‘Have you seen the beauty of some of our

  untouchables?’ India was the editor’s lifelong cause; the uplift of the untouchables was part of his cause; and he was speaking with the utmost generosity.




  There was a paradox. My continental idea of an Indian identity, with the nerves it continually exposed, would have made it hard for me to do worthwhile work in India. The caste or group

  stability that Indians had, the more focussed view, enabled them, while remaining whole themselves, to do work – modest, improving things, rather than revolutionary things – in

  conditions which to others might have seemed hopeless – as I saw during many weeks in the countryside, when I stayed with young Indian Administrative Service officers.




  Many thousands of people had worked like that over the years, without any sense of a personal drama, many millions; it had added up in the 40 years since independence to an immense national

  effort. The results of that effort were now noticeable. What looked sudden had been long prepared. The increased wealth showed; the new confidence of people once poor showed. One aspect of that

  confidence was the freeing of new particularities, new identities, which were as unsettling to Indians as the identities of caste and clan and region had been to me in 1962, when I had gone to

  India only as an ‘Indian’.




  The people once known as untouchables lined up for more than a mile on a busy road to honour their long-dead saint, Dr Ambedkar, who in his icon wore a European-style jacket and tie. That

  proclamation of pride was new. It could be said to be something Gandhi and others had worked for; it could be said to be a vindication of the freedom movement. Yet it could also be felt as a threat

  to the stability many Indians had taken for granted; and a middle-class man might, in a reflex of anxiety, feel that the country was going from bad to worse.




  

    *


  




  The Bombay stock market had boomed. Papu, a twenty-nine-year-old stockbroker, had made more money in the last five years than his father had made in all his working life.

  Papu’s father had migrated to Burma during the British time, when Burma was part of British India. When Burma had become independent, and had withdrawn from the Commonwealth, Papu’s

  father, like other Indians, had been made to leave. In India, Papu’s father had gone into trading in stocks and shares on his own account. He read the financial pages carefully and he made a

  modest living. ‘On the stock market,’ Papu said, ‘if you succeed seven times out of 10, you are doing well.’ Papu’s father, not a formally educated man, had done well

  according to his own lights.




  Papu, better educated, and operating in a far larger economy, had done very well, even by his own standards. The last five years, he had said, had been exceptionally good; and he felt that the

  next ten years were going to be pretty good as well.




  But Papu had become anxious. He didn’t know where the new aggressiveness of Indian business was going to lead, and he wasn’t certain how far, with the strong religious feelings he

  had, he would be able to fit into the new scheme of things. He had also grown to fear something his father had never thought about: Papu, at the age of twenty-nine, lived in dread of revolution and

  anarchy. The fear was partly a fear of personal loss; but it was also an extension of Papu’s religious concerns.




  Papu came of a Jain family. The Jains are an ancient, pre-Buddhist offshoot of Hinduism, and they aim at what they see as absolute purity. They don’t eat meat; they don’t eat eggs;

  they avoid taking life. Every morning a Jain should bathe, put on an unstitched cloth, and walk barefooted to his temple to pray. And yet the Jains are famous in India for their skill as

  businessmen.




  Papu’s office was in the stock market area of Bombay. At road level it was not easy for the visitor to distinguish this area from other areas in central Bombay. The lobby of the tall

  building where Papu’s office was had a special Indian quality: you felt that every day, in the name of cleaning, someone had rubbed the place down with a lightly grimed rag, and – in

  the way that a fresh mark of sandalwood paste is given every day to an image – given a touch of black grease to the folding metal gates of the elevators. Roughly painted little boards gave

  each elevator a number; and there was a little zigzag line for each elevator, so that in the lobby people created a floral pattern.




  On the upper floor where we got off the walls still hinted at the lightly grimed rag. But in this upper lobby, which was much quieter, people clearly didn’t have the anxiety they had

  downstairs about being seen or about giving offence, and they had spat out gritty red mouthfuls of pan-juice, sometimes in a corner, sometimes broadside, in great splashing arcs, on the walls.




  After this informality there was an office. Desks, clerks, office equipment. There were framed colour pictures of Hindu deities on the walls, and some of the pictures were garlanded.

  Papu’s chamber was a small inner room. Computer screens blinked green. On one wall were three pictures of deities side by side. The goddess Durga, riding on her tiger, was on the right; a

  garland of marigolds hung over the glass.




  I asked Papu about Durga. He didn’t answer directly. He began to talk about his Jain faith and its application to what he did.




  He said, ‘Basically, we are without the killer instinct, which is what businessmen should have.’




  I said, ‘But you do so well.’




  ‘We are traders.’ The distinction was important to him. ‘The killer instinct is required in industry, not in trading. Which is why the Jain community is not involved in

  industry. If I’m trading on the stock exchange now, and I cannot get some money out of a guy, I wouldn’t hire a mafia guy to get it out of him. Which is what happens here in something

  like the building industry – if I’m a builder, I have to have my own mafia connections.’




  ‘How long has it been so?’




  ‘It’s growing in the cities. After 1975’ – the time of Mrs Gandhi’s Emergency – ‘all the mafia dons gave up smuggling and took up building. They will

  “encourage” people, for instance, to vacate land, so that the land can be used for building.’




  It was what many people spoke about. It was part of the ‘criminalization’ of Indian business and politics.




  Papu said, ‘It is a problem. I don’t know how long this’ – he indicated his own room, with the computers, and the outer office – ‘is going to continue.

  We’re doing well right now. We’re vegetarians, but I don’t know how long we can go on without going out there to fight.’




  It was strange, this stress on vegetarianism just there. But vegetarianism was fundamental to Papu’s faith. In the mess and flux and uncertainty of life, vegetarianism, the refusal to be

  impure, was something one could anchor oneself to. It was an exercise of will and virtue that saved one from other kinds of excess, including the excess of ‘going out there to

  fight’.




  Papu was of middle height. His vegetarianism and his sport – which, unexpectedly, was basketball – had given him a fine, slender physique. He was strong, without pronounced muscular

  definitions; he was curiously like one of the smooth marble figures of Jain sculpture. His eyes were serene; his face was squarish and well-defined, his skin smooth and unmarked.




  He thought that if the nature of trading changed, if the killer instinct entered it, Jains would have to fight or give up. From what he said, it seemed that so far Jains had preferred to give

  up. They had left the building industry. In Bombay, as in Delhi, they had given up those trades which required them to carry cash or valuables.




  He began to speak again of his faith, and when – taking his own time to come back to my early question – he spoke of the goddess Durga, he didn’t speak of her as a deity with

  special attributes. He spoke of her simply as God.




  ‘I have to think of God whenever some things happen. I lost my father in the beginning of this year. My father died of a heart attack. At a time like that the feeling comes that there is

  some external factor I can’t do anything about.




  ‘I am now using computers, the way they are doing in the developed countries. There is a time that there is a feeling in me that if I’m able to beat the market, it’s because

  I’m able to take on these developments. But then – when something like this happens: my father, his death – I get the feeling that my intelligence or my aggression is worth

  nothing. Here I am, in this business. I forecast stock movements, price movements. There is an obsession about the work, as you know. And then suddenly this feeling – that I can’t

  foresee my life. That is the time I feel there is something like God, and I wish to have faith.




  ‘In the last year that feeling has been coming any time I’m excited or very sad. Earlier, if I had been excited, I would have expressed my excitement. You would have been able to see

  it. But now I know that at the end of the day, after the excitement, something sad might happen. So why get excited?’




  ‘I can understand older men having these thoughts. But you are not old.’




  ‘We have this saying on the Bombay stock exchange: “How many Diwalis have you seen?”’ Diwali, the Hindu festival of lights. ‘Which is a way of saying,

  “How old are you?” The friend of mine who owns this firm is only thirty, and he’s been very successful these last five years. He’s encountered two income-tax raids, and

  several ups and downs. Things which my father would have taken a lifetime to experience, he’s done in five years. So we say it isn’t the number of Diwalis you’ve seen, it’s

  the number of crackers you’ve burst. For me the same is true, not only in business, but in life. I go to the temple every morning. I basically pray to have control over certain

  feelings.’




  ‘Grief?’ I was thinking of his father.




  He misheard me. He thought I had said ‘greed’, and he said, ‘Greed and fear. The two feelings associated with my business. I walk into the temple, hold my hands together, and

  wait there for five minutes.’




  ‘Who do you address when you do that?’




  ‘Something you think of who’s controlling the world.’




  ‘You don’t think of a particular deity?’




  ‘If you’re doing business, the picture you would have would be of the goddess Lakshmi. On other occasions it would be Saraswati. Lakshmi is the goddess of wealth, Saraswati is the

  goddess of wisdom. And when I think of the children in the slums, I have to think of God. That is the time I think there is a certain womb I came out of– which is why I’m here today,

  and not there. Now, why am I here, and not there, in the slums? Nowhere in the organized learning I received at school and college do I get an answer to this question. The answer is: God. A couple

  of times a day I think these thoughts.’




  ‘Did your father think these thoughts as well?’




  ‘My father was a self-made man. He was only a matriculate. He had to be more involved with his work. Basically, a man thinks of these other things when he’s taken care of food and

  shelter. Although my father must have been having the same thoughts, he had to be doing his duties to his family. I’m a little more comfortable at a younger age. That is one of the reasons

  why this comes up.’




  ‘Can anyone be successful in business without some aggression?’




  ‘Aggression creates a vicious circle. I’ll give you an example. We have a man called Ambani here. He’s going to become the largest industrialist in India in a couple of years.

  This man would really give you the true picture of how business success works in India. He is a good administrator and a good manipulator. Those are different words. An administrator organizes his

  business, a manipulator manages the world outside. Ambani’s got the foresight, and finally he’s got the aggression. If you compare him to old industrialists like Tata and Birla,

  he’s one generation ahead. Birla had the licences. He put up industries, he’s manufacturing goods. This man Ambani goes one step ahead. He makes and breaks policies for himself. Now he

  sees a demand for polyester. It’s shiny and it lasts and lasts. It’s perfect for India, where people can’t afford to buy too many clothes. So he gets into polyester, and he makes

  sure that nobody else is involved in it. After this he takes the next step – making the raw material for polyester. Then he wants other people to make polyester so they can use his raw

  material. This backward integration will get him to a situation where he will control the textile industry in India. Polyester will be the largest market.




  ‘If I want to go out into any business in India, that is what I would have to do. Something like that.




  ‘But there is another side. There is a firm here called Bajaj. They are the second largest scooter-manufacturer in the world. Three years ago, when the Japanese entered India, we thought

  that Bajaj would soon be out. He’s not only able to stay, but he’s grown much more than all of them. He’s a Harvard graduate. But it’s a conventional family, with all the

  culture and conventions of Indians. They’ve gone through personal taxation at 97 per cent and inheritance tax as high as 80 per cent, and yet today they are still very large. This gives me

  confidence that it can still work.’




  By ‘it’ he meant the traditional Indian way, the way that fitted in with ‘all the culture and conventions of Indians’.




  Papu said, ‘The important point here is your asking me how to be sucessful without aggression. The problem is discipline. I don’t find my non-vegetarian friends have the will-power

  and discipline and character that the vegetarians have. When we started out being vegetarians we never thought of these things. But now, looking back at life, we find the non-vegetarians have a

  problem.’




  Papu had a plan of sorts for his own future. He wanted to work for the next ten years, to exercise the business faculties with which he had been endowed. He wanted in those ten years to make

  enough money to live on for the rest of his life. And then he wanted to devote himself to social work. But he had doubts about his plan. He had doubts especially about the wisdom or efficiency of

  giving up. If he personally went out and did social work, wouldn’t that be a waste of his natural talent? Wouldn’t he serve his social cause better if he continued in business and

  devoted his profits – which would grow – to his social work?




  These ideas were worrying him. He was uncertain about his promptings, and that worried him even more. He thought that, living the kind of life he did, the concern he felt for the poor was at the

  moment only ‘hypocritical’.




  ‘If I say I should be doing social work, why should I be here in an air-conditioned office? If I have a genuine feeling, I should be out there in the slum, working. But up to the age of

  forty I may have to continue to live like a hypocrite. And then I would do what I want. Today I am getting so great a return for my input. This makes me feel I should be working harder. This makes

  me feel I should not be entitled to these luxuries.




  The earlier generation of Jains, when they thought of social work, used to build marble temples. We find that to be not very right, maybe because there are already so many temples. We think of

  orphanages and hospitals. Our generation thinks more of social work than of religion.’




  ‘Are you really as nervous of the poverty as you say?’




  ‘I am sure there’s going to be a revolution. In a generation or two. It cannot last, the inequalities of income. I shudder when I think of that. I am very sure that the Indian mind

  is religious, fatalistic. Even after all the education I’ve had, I still think that destiny will take me – I’ll get there whatever I do. This is why we haven’t had a

  revolution. Now, with the growing frustrations, even if people are religious there is going to be a revolution. The tolerance is being stretched too far.’




  ‘What form do you think the revolution will take?’




  ‘It won’t be anything. It will be totally chaos.’




  

    *


  




  For some, like the Shiv Sena, the revolution had already started. Nikhil, a young magazine journalist I had got to know, took me on a Sunday morning to meet a Sena ‘area

  leader’ in the industrial suburb of Thane. The Sena had 40 units in Thane – 40 units in one suburb – and each unit had a leader like Mr Patil, the man we were going to see.




  Thane was one hour north of downtown Bombay by train. The coaches were broad and roomy and basic, built for the heavy duty of Bombay suburban travel, no-nonsense affairs of undisguised metal

  poles and brackets and bolts. A prominent metal label in each coach gave the name of the builders: Jessop and Co., Calcutta, once British, now Indian.




  We passed blocks of flats, mildewed and grimed; swamps, drains; browned patches of field; dust, children; and, always, the shacks and the rag-roofed dependent shelters they encouraged, the

  existing shack or hut or shelter providing one ready-built wall for the newcomer, the tide after tide of human beings that came into Bombay all the time, sometimes undoing in a night the

  rehabilitating effort of years. The Shiv Sena, in its early days, had wanted Maharashtra for the Maharashtrians; it had campaigned against immigration into Bombay from other states. What could be

  seen from the train was explanation enough.




  Even in Thane, one hour out, there was a feeling that living space was still immensely valuable. In a working-class lane near the railway station – just past the bright stalls, some with

  fruit, some with cheap watches, some with Sunday-morning fripperies, shiny fairground goods – a simple apartment could cost two and half lakhs of rupees, 250,000 rupees, about

  £10,000.




  The entrance to Mr Patil’s house was off this lane, in a passageway between two two-storey houses. Mr Patil lived upstairs in the house to the right, an old house; the house to the left,

  which was still being built, and had unexpected architectural style, was going to be substantial. The yard at the end of the passageway was like an old Port of Spain backyard, with a busy outdoor

  life; though the crumbling brick dependencies against the back wall had the Bombay constriction, and spoke of people making do with very little room.




  In the plot or yard on the other side of the back wall, and not far from that wall, was the weathered concrete frame of a projected building of some size that looked as though it had been

  abandoned. If that building had gone up, it would have blocked out some of the light from Mr Patil’s yard; the yard would have felt hemmed in. As it was, with the openness at the back, there

  was, curiously, no feeling of oppression in Mr Patil’s yard, even with the crowd and the general noise – many scattered sounds, many varied events, running together to make something

  like a sea sound.




  The wooden staircase up to Mr Patil’s floor was steep (saving space), and called for care. The construction was interesting, with each thick plank mortised into the side boards. In the

  little verandah or gallery at the top there were taken-off shoes and slippers, but we were not asked to take our shoes off.




  There was a visitor before us in the room inside. He was a police inspector in khaki uniform, and he was sitting in an arm chair next to Mr Patil. The inspector hadn’t taken off his boots

  either. They were quite splendid boots, and must have been personal, not part of his police issue. They were ankle-high, of soft leather, with nice indentations and ridges, and they were ox-blood

  in colour.




  The inspector was in his late thirties or early forties. He was serious and respectful, but also self-respecting. Mr Patil was frowning; the frown could be read as an expression of his

  authority. He was small and had begun to get plump. He was young, in his late twenties, and the way he was sitting gave prominence to his little paunch. The paunch looked new, something he was

  still learning to live with, like the roundness of his thighs, which was causing his trousers noticeably to tighten. He was barefooted in his sitting room. That was custom; but it was also a mark

  of his privilege: the local dignitary, receiving at home.




  The police inspector had come that Sunday morning to ask for the Sena’s help with a local ‘Eve-teasing’ problem. The sexual harassment of women in public places, often sly,

  sometimes quite open, was a problem all over India. The particular incident the inspector was worried about had caused two groups in the area to square off against each other. In that crowd and

  closeness it didn’t take much for nerves to tear; trouble came easily.




  The sitting room was pink-washed, and it had a terrazzo floor. In its furnishings and decorations it was, making allowance for period details, like rooms I had known in Trinidad in my childhood,

  the rooms of people who had begun to feel they were doing well and had begun to respect themselves. There was a Sony television set, with a video. A patterned lace cloth covered the Sony, and there

  was a doll on the cloth. On the pink walls there were plastic hibiscus sprays on sections of plastic trellis-work. A double bed occupied one corner of the room; two bolsters in faded pink were set

  symmetrically on it at an angle one to the other; and some clothes of Mr Patil’s hung on a hook of some sort.




  Mr Patil’s mother was sitting flat on the terrazzo floor in the open doorway to the left. The room beyond must have been the kitchen. I fancied that a smell of frying fish was coming from

  that room, but I might have been wrong. Perhaps the Patils didn’t eat fish; in India such details were important, and could be serious caste matters. There was at any rate a smell of cooking;

  and it must have been this which – while the police inspector and Mr Patil talked – drew a little tiger-striped ginger cat across the sitting room to the doorway where Mr Patil’s

  mother was sitting. The cat was a surprise: I thought Indians didn’t care too much for cats. This was an Indian cat, lean in neck and limbs, heavy only in belly, more scrawny and desperate

  than the chubby cats of England.




  Mr Patil’s mother was wearing a red or pink patterned sari, tied in a way which enabled the legs to be wrapped separately. She was very short, with much slack, tired-looking flesh, and she

  wore thick-lensed glasses. She was sitting in the doorway to enjoy the Sunday-morning company; though it was also plain from her manner that she didn’t want to intrude into any of the serious

  business her son might have to deal with.




  The serious, impressive police inspector rose at last. He said he was glad that Mr Patil had been so understanding. Both groups in the Eve-teasing affair had enough supporters to cause real

  trouble in the locality, he said; and in these matters it was the policy of the police to try to reconcile people. Then he left, and he could be heard picking his way lightly down the steep steps

  in his boots.




  Mr Patil frowned harder, set his mouth, and waited to hear what I had to say. He had no English, only Marathi. Nikhil translated for me. I said I wanted to know first of all about the locality,

  and about Mr Patil’s family.




  Mr Patil said his family had spent their entire life right there, in that locality. His father had worked in the tool room of a factory in central Bombay for 40 years. What did the factory make?

  Neither Mr Patil nor his mother knew. The factory was closed down now, finished. But what was important was that his father had been in regular work. Because of that the family had not known

  hardship when they were children. They knew hardship as a family only when their father died, in 1975. In India there were no pensions.




  Mr Patil had a dark, square face. He wore a moustache. His hair was getting thin.




  He went out to work after his father died. He found a job in the packing department of a company that made transistors. A girl cousin told him about the job. She worked in the factory; in fact,

  she still worked there. He didn’t get much in the packing department, 300 rupees a month, working eight hours a day. He didn’t like what he had to do, but it was a job. He had made a

  lot of friends in the factory; many of them had remained friends.




  He never thought of himself and his family as poor. He never thought of himself as rich or poor. He always felt he was middle class – using that word in the Indian way. And what he said

  carried an echo of what Papu, the Jain stockbroker, had said: a man has to take care of food and shelter before he can notice other things. Just as Papu’s success had given him the social

  concerns that his more harassed father had never had, so, though the Shiv Sena spoke of the deprivation of Maharashtrians, that idea could come to people only when they had ceased, in fact, to be

  absolutely deprived.




  How, growing up in that locality, had ambition come to Mr Patil? Had he been ambitious as a child? He had. He wanted to be famous. He didn’t want to be famous for any particular thing; he

  just wanted to be famous. At one time he thought he would like to be a famous cricketer. But now he wasn’t ambitious in that way; he had scaled it down. He just wanted to do what the Supreme

  Leader of the party wanted him to do.




  He was ten years old when he had first seen the leader. He had seen him right here, in this locality. That would have been in 1969 or 1970. He saw a poster one day announcing a visit by the

  leader. At that time he had never heard of the leader: the Sena was only three years old, and the leader wasn’t as famous as he became later. But Mr Patil noticed the poster about the

  leader’s visit. This was during the festival of Ganpati. And now, in Mr Patil’s talk, religion and Sena politics began to run together.




  Ganpati, Ganesh, the Hindu elephant god, with his long, friendly trunk, his bright eyes, and big, contented belly, was adored in Maharashtra. He was very important in the Patil house: the family

  kept a Ganpati image in the house. Every year there was a festival dedicated to Ganpati. The festival lasted nine days, and there was a big event on each of those days. Mr Patil as a boy would go

  to the big event on all the nine days of the festival; he did that every year.




  He said, in Nikhil’s translation of his Marathi, his mother (much paler in complexion than he) nodding while he spoke, ‘Everything good that has happened to me has come through the

  grace of Ganpati. Every month there is one day devoted to the worship of Ganpati. I travel then no kilometres to worship at the huge shrine of Ganpati at Pali.’




  On the wall at the back of the Sony television there was a colour photograph or picture of this image at Pali: the broad, spreading belly of the deity a violent, arresting red, not altogether

  benign.




  I asked whether this idea of Ganpati as the bestower of good luck had always been in his family. He said yes. What had been the first time in his own life he had associated Ganpati with

  something good?




  He scratched his thin hair. The tiger-striped ginger cat or kitten was now sitting below the chair on which the police inspector had sat, and was looking delicately around. Mr Patil’s

  mother, sitting on the terrazzo floor in the doorway, which appeared to be her own place of sitting, lifted her head, as if thinking herself of the first time her son had been blessed by the god;

  the thick lenses of her glasses created pools of light over her eyes.




  On the wall above the bed with the symmetrically set bolsters was a fluorescent electric tube; fluorescent tubes were used in India because they were cheap. There were two little windows in that

  wall. In one window the iron bars were set vertically; in the other window – for the variation and the style – the bars were set horizontally. Both windows had similar curtains, each

  curtain gathered up with a sash in two places.




  The little pink-walled room was really quite full of things to look at: much thought here, much pride. There was a wardrobe, and there was also a black-framed glass case or cabinet about three

  feet high. On top of the cabinet was a very big multi-coloured candle, to balance the doll on the Sony. Among the things on the shelves were a set of stainless-steel tumblers and eight china cups

  with a flowered pattern. The glass cabinet and the things in it – leaving aside the aluminium tumblers – were like things I had known in my childhood. They were still here in a kind of

  wholeness: my heart went out to them.




  Mr Patil said at last, ‘I never used to go to school. I used to just roam around, play cricket. I was finally told that I would be thrown out of the school. So I prayed to Ganpati. I was

  about fifteen or sixteen at this time. I told Ganpati that if I wasn’t thrown out of the school, I would make the pilgrimage to Pali. And I wasn’t thrown out. The headmistress had a

  change of heart. When she called me she said she was only going to warn me that time.’




  Having remembered that, he remembered other occasions of Ganpati’s grace. ‘Three or four years ago my mother fell ill. High blood pressure. She went to hospital. She was on oxygen.

  She couldn’t talk. I went to Pali to the Ganpati shrine and I made an offering of a garland and a coconut. When I came back, my mother was much better.’




  And his mother – sitting in the doorway, not flat on the floor, as I had thought, but on a thin piece of wood, perhaps an inch high – put her palms together while her son spoke, and

  said, in Nikhil’s translation, that she folded her hands in gratitude to Ganpati.




  Even at his birth there was some element of mercy and blessing. This was in 1959. There were very bad riots in the locality. People were throwing stones. Taxis were not easy to get, but his

  father managed to find a taxi-driver who said he would try to take Mrs Patil to the hospital. The taxi had to drive five kilometres through the riots to the government hospital. It got there

  safely, and as soon as his mother went in, she was delivered of him.




  Mother and son told the story in relay, and the mother, sitting on the floor, again put her palms together and said that it was Ganpati’s mercy.




  And then, two years or so ago, there was a serious crisis for him. The crisis was in his political life, and it lasted nine days. That was a very long time to be on the rack. He made a

  pilgrimage to Pali, and vowed to Ganpati that if he came out of his crisis, he would make an offering of 101 coconuts:




  Wasn’t that like trying to buy something from the god?




  ‘My faith is rooted in reality. I am not in the habit of offering 101 coconuts and asking to be made prime minister of India.’




  Was this faith in Ganpati something deep in himself, always there? Or did he, after he had prayed, look for some sign from the deity?




  He said, in Nikhil’s translation, ‘Even when things look bad I hear a voice inside. I suppose you can call it self-confidence.’ Nikhil gave the Marathi word he had used for

  ‘self-confidence’: atma-vishwas. That was Ganpati’s greatest gift.




  I said, ‘How did you take 101 coconuts up to the shrine?’




  ‘You can buy the nuts at the shrine itself




  He told me more about the Ganpati festival. Every year you had to get a new image from the image-maker. You kept the image at home for as long as you wanted, but at the end of the festival you

  had to throw away or immerse the image. It was the tradition in their family to keep the image for one day and a half; then they took it to a lake not far away and immersed it. It had been his

  mother’s ambition all her life to bring the Ganpati image home from the image-maker’s with a musical band. Recently, she had been able to do that. Her other son had got a very good job,

  and the family had hired a band and brought the image to the house, and they had had the band again when they had taken the image out of the house to the lake.




  With this talk of Ganpati, of shrines and pilgrimages and vows and offerings, I began to get some idea of the mysteries the earth held for people like the Patils, the glory that sometimes

  touched their days, the wonders they walked through. There was more to their world than one saw. Thane was an industrial suburb. But the land itself was very old; it had its sanctity; and the same

  people could live naturally with many different ways of feeling.




  It was during this auspicious festival of Ganpati – right here, in this locality, in these lanes I had walked through seeing only the surface of things – that Mr Patil, when he was

  ten, had seen the poster about the visit of the leader of the Shiv Sena. He had gone to the meeting, to look at the leader. The leader at that time was running his own weekly magazine and was

  better known as a cartoonist. The young Patil boy didn’t find the leader physically impressive when he saw him. He saw a thin man, with glasses, in a buttoned-up long coat. But as soon as the

  leader began to speak the boy’s blood began to ‘boil’. The leader’s speech lasted 30 to 35 minutes, and at the end people like the young Patil, whose blood had boiled at the

  thought of all the injustices the true people of Maharashtra had to endure, began to shout their acclamation of the leader.




  ‘Weren’t you too young to understand talk about discrimination against Maharashtrians?’




  ‘No. I used to hear a lot about how the Muslims and outsiders were creating problems for Maharashtrians. I used to hear it at home and on the streets. My elder brother used to tell me

  about it.’




  ‘Your father?’




  ‘He had no interest in it at all.’




  The father didn’t have the security of his sons. It was as with Papu’s father.




  And though for a long time after this the ten-year-old boy had heard no more big Shiv Sena speeches, he began to lend a hand when the party wanted people to put up posters and banners. Later,

  when his father died, and he had gone out to work with the transistor company, he began to do political work for the party in the evenings. He continued to do that party work even when he found a

  new job. In the new job he was concerned with exporting manpower to Dubai and the Middle East. He got 950 rupees a month, as against 300 with the transistor company. He took people for

  interviews.




  Didn’t he want to go to the Middle East himself, to make some money?




  ‘I didn’t pass my matric at school. So if I’d gone I would have had to do some menial work.’




  ‘You didn’t think there was anything wrong in sending people from here to a Muslim country?’




  ‘Not all Muslims are enemies.’




  His work for the party at that time was to sit in the Sena office in the evenings and listen to people’s complaints. The Sena always believed in the social side of things. There was a lot

  to be done that way. People needed help. Some people had water for only four hours a day. In many buildings water didn’t rise above the first floor. Even after he had been appointed area

  leader of the Sena – that appointment had come three years before – he still did that kind of social work. When we had arrived, for instance, there was a lady in the kitchen with his

  mother. She had come to complain about a water-connection. She had paid somebody 1000 rupees for the connection, and so far she had had no connection and no water. The area leader had to interest

  himself in the problems of the people; it was good for the party politically.




  Did his blood still boil? Or had he become calmer, with the success of the Sena, and his own position as area leader?




  His blood still boiled. ‘There is a place called Bhiwandi, about 25 kilometres from here. When India lost a cricket match to Pakistan, they used to let off crackers in the marketplace, the

  Muslims there. When I was small I could do nothing about it. But now I can’t bear it. There used to be groups of Muslims who used to come over from Bhiwandi to Thane here. The local people

  were so full of resentment against those Muslims that they had clashes with them in 1982, and they broke open the Muslim shops and sold the goods to the people. They sold towels for two rupees. The

  Muslim shops have come back now, but they live in fear. The Shiv Sena is very powerful. I will tell you: the Muslims even give donations to the Shiv Sena.’




  Nikhil said on his own, ‘But isn’t this extortion?’




  Mr Patil didn’t think so.




  I wanted to know – thinking of his adoration for Ganpati – what was more important for him: religion or politics? In Nikhil’s Marathi translation this came out as:

  dharma or rajnithi?




  Mr Patil said, ‘Dharma.’ Religion. But this wasn’t the personal faith in Ganpati he had talked about. With the Sena’s success and growth, the Sena’s ideas had grown

  bigger: the religion that Mr Patil meant was Hinduism itself. ‘There is a plot to wipe Hinduism off the face of the earth.’ It was a Muslim plot, and that was why it was vital to keep

  Hinduism alive.




  Two more thin Indian cats or kittens had come into the sitting room – a tabby, and another ginger-coloured cat – and they were walking about inquiringly. Some friends or relations of

  the Patils had also dropped in, to listen to what Mr Patil had to say to his visitors.




  I asked whether Hinduism could be kept alive, if Indian business and industry kept on growing as it had been growing.




  He didn’t see any contradiction. ‘If you want to survive, you have to make money.’




  ‘That isn’t the Gandhian attitude.’




  ‘I have contempt for Gandhi. He believed in turning the other cheek. I believe that if someone slaps you, you must have the power to ask him why he slapped you, or you must slap him back.

  I hate the idea of non-violence.’




  This was in keeping with his Maratha warrior pride. I wondered how much of Maratha history he knew. What ideas of history were afloat in this locality, in all these narrow lanes? Did he know

  Shivaji’s dates?




  He did. He said, ‘1630 to 1680. I know all that. Shivaji saved the Maharashtrians from atrocities. But then the English came, and they committed atrocities on everybody else.’




  I could understand the larger communal mood here, the conflict between Hindus and Muslims. But I wondered about the meaning caste would have in an industrial area like this, where people lived

  so close together. What were the Sena’s relations with the Dalits? From the little I had seen, the Dalits had developed the beginnings of that self-confidence, the atma-vishwas, which

  had been part of Ganpati’s gift to Mr Patil. Did that touch some chord in him? Did his concern for Hinduism lead him to some fellow feeling for them?




  He was rigid. ‘We have no differences with them. They don’t consider themselves Maharashtrians or Hindus. They are Buddhists.’




  Hadn’t they been driven out of Hinduism by caste prejudice? Was there no sympathy for them? When he was a boy, his blood had boiled when he had heard his leader speak of the discrimination

  against Maharashtrians. Didn’t he think that Dalits had cause to feel like that too?




  He didn’t think so. Dalit anger was something the Dalit leaders and the people called the Dalit Panthers – in imitation of the Black Panthers of the United States – were

  encouraging for political reasons. ‘They have no reason to be angry. They’ve not suffered as much as they say. And the present Dalit organizations are linked to Muslim

  groups.’




  I asked Nikhil whether that was so. He said yes. ‘Both those sections, the Dalits and the Muslims, are alienated. And someone thought it would be a good idea to bring them

  together.’




  Alienation: it was the common theme. Mr Patil was triumphant now; but his blood still boiled. Even now he felt that his group might sink, and that others were waiting to trample on them. It was

  as though in these small, crowded spaces no one really felt at home. Everyone felt that the other man, the other group, was laughing; everyone lived with the feeling of siege.




  The time had now come to go with Mr Patil to the Sena office. We said goodbye to his mother; and she, still sitting, lifted her head, her eyes lost below the concentric circles of her thick

  glasses, and brought her palms together again. Together with some of the people who had come to hear Mr Patil talk, we went out of the pink room to the verandah, past the taken-off slippers and

  shoes at the door.




  We went first to the end of the verandah to look at the view at the back: the brick sheds against the back wall, the abandoned structure next door, with rusty reinforcing iron rods coming out of

  the concrete. One of the men with us said in English, ‘Unauthorized.’ So, in spite of the apparent haphazardness all around, there was some kind of municipal regulation.




  We went down the steep staircase to the passageway between the two houses, and then out into the sunlight of the paved lane. A little way to the right was the local Sena office, Mr Patil’s

  domain. Structurally, it was a concrete box, a one-roomed shed; but it had been decorated on the outside to look like a fort, with a formal and very simple kind of crenellation at the top, and with

  the concrete wall painted to suggest blocks of grey stone with white pointing. It was quite startling in the dust and dirt and crumble of the lane. It looked like a stage set or like something from

  a fairground. But it was a reminder of the warrior past of the Marathas. The past was real; the present power and organization of the Sena was real.




  We hadn’t been asked to take off our shoes before we went into Mr Patil’s sitting room. But we had to take them off now before we stepped from the lane into the Sena office: this,

  though it was dustier than his sitting room, was Mr Patil’s true shrine. The inside walls were painted blue. The floor was paved with stone flags – the people of Maharashtra build

  naturally and well in stone.




  There was a desk against the far wall, with a high-backed chair, like a throne. As soon as we entered, Mr Patil went and sat on the high-backed chair, as though this was part of the formality of

  the place. In front of the desk were nine folding metal chairs; they were for visitors, and they were painted in the same blue colour as the wall. On the back wall, above Mr Patil’s chair,

  there was a picture of a tiger: the tiger was the Sena’s emblem. The only other picture on that wall was of the leader of the Sena. On the desk there was a bronze-coloured bust of Shivaji,

  and there was another, similar bust on a pedestal set at an angle in the corner away from the desk. The busts were of plaster of Paris, and each carried a fresh mark of sandalwood paste, which was

  a holy or sacred mark, on the forehead. There was a tall dark-green iron cabinet near the door, and the lighting was by fluorescent tube. A cuckoo clock on a wall – a reminder of Mr

  Patil’s sitting room – was the only decorative thing in the little cell.




  The Sena office was a Sena fort, and there were 40 like it in Thane. In one way, it was martial make-believe; in another way, it was perfectly real. There were constant group fights in the

  locality. Some of the fights were between the Sena and the Dalits, especially those of the Dalits who called themselves Panthers; and there were also fights between the Sena and some Congress

  groups. The fights were serious, and sometimes deadly, with swords and acid-bulbs as weapons. The Sena also fought to protect its supporters against criminals and thugs. Some of the Sena supporters

  were stallholders such as we had seen on the way from the railway station; there were always people trying to extort money from them.




  While we were talking in the office, Mr Patil leaning back in his high-backed chair, Nikhil and I leaning forward on our blue metal chairs (the blue scratched down to rust at the edges), there

  was a sound of tramping in the lane. It sounded almost like a little approaching disturbance, a little event. And we saw, passing in the sunlight in front of the door, a number of handcuffed young

  men, roped together with what looked like new rope, roped together upper arm to upper arm. The roped-up men were in two files, and they were being marched or led, without shouts or haste or

  roughness, by a squad of policemen in khaki uniform.




  Nikhil said, ‘But that’s unconstitutional. People can’t be handcuffed just like that. The Supreme Court has handed down a ruling.’




  The men being led away seemed to have dressed for Sunday. Their shirts were clean and stylish; the shirt of one man had broad vertical black and silver stripes. They were very young men, all

  slender, some thin.




  The man who had said, of the unfinished concrete structure at the back of the Patil house, ‘Unauthorized’ – that man now again spoke one word, with the Indian affirmative shake

  of the head, to explain what we had seen. He said, ‘Without.’




  Without what?




  Railway tickets – everyone around me knew, everyone was ready to explain.




  What did Mr Patil think of what we had seen?




  He was easy about it. ‘It’s an everyday occurrence. They are being taken to prison, and they will have to stay there for three or four days. Some are poor people. But some do it for

  the kicks.’




  We went out of the office into the lane. The policemen and their prisoners had almost gone out of sight. The little disturbance had passed; the life of the lane was closing over it.




  In a canal (or worse) off the lane I saw an animal of some sort parting the dark green-brown water. A dog? A cow – one of the small Indian variety of cow? A calf? It was hard to see the

  dark creature against the dark water. But then a round snout rose flat and pink above the surface: a pig. And, vision established now, I also saw, paddling on ahead, their irregular white markings

  looking from a distance like light on the dark canal, or foam, a number of little black-and-white piglets, paddling and bucking about in the murky water.




  The man who had said ‘Unauthorized’ and ‘Without’ now said, ‘Dalit pigs.’




  What did he mean by that? Many Indians, Hindus and Muslims, considered the pig unclean; some could hardly bear the sight of the animal. Was there some Dalit intention to provoke – in these

  pigs (that few dared touch) being turned loose in a crowded area?




  That wasn’t so.




  The man who had said ‘Dalit pigs’ said, ‘The Dalits eat them on Sundays.’ So the pigs were not only part of the Dalit separateness; there was also a formality about Dalit

  pig-eating. The man added, ‘They also sell pigs.’




  Just a little way up the lane – where the policemen had passed – many small boys were playing cricket with an old, smooth, grey tennis ball. The Sena fort; the slender young men in

  their nice shirts handcuffed and roped up; the cricket, the gentlemanly, stylish game from halfway across the world – everything was open for inspection here. And so much more was innocently

  on view: just below the surface, human emotions and needs, and ideas of mystery and glory, ran riot.




  

 





  

    *


  




  On a white wall somewhere near Mohammed Ali Road in downtown Bombay I had seen this slogan painted in tall black letters: LIBERATE HUMANITY THROUGH ISLAM.




  Mohammed Ali Road had a reputation. It was the main thoroughfare of the Muslim area of downtown Bombay. The area was spoken of as a ‘ghetto’, and it was so often in the news, in such

  worrying ways, that people tended to use newspaper language to describe it. It was ‘volatile’, a ‘flashpoint’; it was where communal riots could begin and, having begun,

  could spread like fire.




  It was dreadfully crowded, with every kind of smell and noise. The brown-black smoke from cars using kerosene-adulterated fuel was like a hot fog in the sunlight. It burned the skin and felt

  jagged in the lungs. It was part of the general feeling of oppression; and the slogan about Islam, seen through this smoke, had the effect of a scream. The slogan was in letters as high as the wall

  on which it was painted, and it was in English. It wasn’t for the people of the ghetto; it was for people outside, people like the Shiv Sena, who might think of making trouble.




  Nikhil knew a young man who lived in the Mohammed Ali Road area. The young man’s name was Anwar. Early one evening, after he had finished his work, Anwar took us to see where he lived.

  Anwar was very small and frail, with a suggestion of some inherited debility. But he had a compensating passion about his Muslim faith, and he was full of fight.




  The early evening traffic on Mohammed Ali Road was very slow. The shops and the pavements were as jammed as the road. The electric lights created the effect of a ceiling or canopy and appeared

  to press down on everything, adding, with the hot smoke, to the feeling of crowd and abrasion and life lived at an extremity. It was too noisy to talk in the taxi.




  At a certain point we got out of the taxi, and then we followed Anwar away from the lights and the smoke to an area of sudden smallness. Narrow lanes opened into narrower, and they were lined

  with little low houses. Some way off, Mohammed Ali Road glowed and roared; but the lights here were dim, the lanes were full of shadows, and the near noises were domestic and subdued. We were not

  in unregulated slum. The lanes were straight and paved, and – though the scale was very small – there was a regularity of lay-out and building that suggested an official housing

  project. Anwar said that this was so; we were in a municipal settlement.




  His house was a narrow section of a wire-netting and concrete row. For two or three feet from the ground the walls of the front room were concrete; above that they were wire netting. A white

  sheet stretched over the wire netting screened the front room of Anwar’s house from his neighbour’s on one side; the screen was on the neighbour’s side of the wire netting.

  Anwar’s house, his section of the row, was perhaps no more than nine feet wide. The wire netting and concrete were painted blue. The front room might have been six feet deep. It had a

  passageway on one side, with shoes and slippers on shelves built into the concrete wall. This passageway led to the main, middle room. Beyond that, Anwar said, was the kitchen.




  Somewhere in the upper space of the middle room was a sleeping loft. The sleeping loft was important. Without it houses like this wouldn’t work, wouldn’t be able to provide space for

  whole families. This was the first I had heard of the Bombay sleeping loft. I heard a good deal more about it in the days that followed; and I began to understand how large families – not

  always slum-dwellers or pavement-sleepers – managed to live in one small room. At night all over Bombay sitting rooms changed their function; the various portions of a house like

  Anwar’s (essentially that main middle room) became simply a place for sleeping in. A sleeping loft utilized to the full the space, the volume, of a room.




  We had been talking in the lane outside Anwar’s house. We hadn’t yet gone inside the house. Our talk encouraged a young man from the adjoining house or section to come out to have a

  look at us. He was of medium height, with a good physique, and he was freshly dressed, as if for relaxation, in a singlet and khaki shorts. It was momentarily astonishing to me that someone of

  normal size and so reasonably turned out should have come out of such a restricted space. We fell silent when he came out and stood in the lane in the dim light, in his patch of territory, saying

  nothing; and, as though we felt we had been indiscreet or discourteous talking in the open about the houses of the settlement, we went then, almost as if for the privacy, into the wire-netted front

  room of Anwar’s house. The young man came back into the front room of his own house and stood about for a while. In the dim light there he or his pale shadow, changing size, could be seen

  against the white-sheet divider or screen – the sheet fixed to the wire netting on his side – like a figure in a puppet play.




  Someone in Anwar’s family had made preparations for our visit. A clean sheet had been spread on the string bed in the front room, as a courtesy to Nikhil and me. At Anwar’s

  invitation, we sat there. Anwar’s father then came out from somewhere in the middle room. He was our host now; and Anwar was sent to buy cold lemonade.




  Anwar’s father, a small man, though not as small as Anwar, looked frail and unwell; and I thought that some of the son’s apparent debility would have come from the father. He was

  very dark, with a very thick, silver beard. That beard was like the old man’s only physical vanity: it was expertly trimmed and combed, and it rippled and shone. And more than physical vanity

  was there: in India different groups wear different styles of beard, and Anwar’s father’s spade-shaped beard was a Muslim beard. That was the beard’s forthright message.




  He said he was sixty-four. And before Nikhil and I could say anything, he said he knew he looked much older – and that was true: I had thought of him as close to eighty. Europeans

  didn’t look as old as Indians, he said. He knew; he had once worked in an Italian firm, and he had seen Europeans of seventy looking healthy and working hard. Indians aged as they did because

  of the conditions they lived in. Here, for instance, they didn’t just have traffic fumes; they also had mill smoke, from a cloth mill. Still, he was sixty-four. That was something; his father

  had died at forty.




  Anwar came back with some chilled bottles of lemonade. This was formally offered, bottle by bottle. We drank a little – the lemonade was very sweet, and seemed to have some chemical

  tincture – and we tried to make general conversation, though we were really too many in the space, and voices and sounds came to us from all directions, and that white screen (pinned to the

  other side of the wire-netting divider) began to seem ambiguous in its intention, not wholly friendly.




  I asked the old man whether there were thieves in the settlement. It had occurred to me that the very openness of life there, and the communality of it (as of a commune), might have offered

  people a kind of protection.




  The old man said there were thefts every day. And there were quarrels every day. The quarrels were worse. A lot of the quarrels came about because of the children. People hit other

  people’s children, and the parents became angry.




  He had lived under every kind of pressure. So had Anwar. Perhaps – if, in circumstances like these, there could be said to be a scale in such matters – it had been harder for Anwar,

  who was more sensitive, better educated, and, in the outside world, had a harder fight in the technical field he had chosen.




  Playing with the lemonade, considering the old-fashioned courtesies of father and son in that setting, the humanity that remained to them, the old man’s calm acknowledgement of the better

  health and strength of others, the better conditions of life of others, I began to feel an affection for them both. I felt that if I had been in their position, confined to Bombay, to that area, to

  that row, I too would have been a passionate Muslim. I had grown up in Trinidad as a member of the Indian community, a member of a minority, and I knew that if you felt your community was small,

  you could never walk away from it; the grimmer tilings became, the more you insisted on being what you were.




  With the old man as our host in the front space of his house, the wire-netted enclosure, and with Anwar being only his father’s son there, our talk could only be formal. I didn’t

  feel that difficult questions could be pressed. For the talk to go beyond the part-time job the old man had been lucky enough to find, for Anwar to talk more freely, and without the worry about

  being overheard, we had to go somewhere else.




  So, gently, trying to avoid accident, we laid our lemonade bottles down on the blue concrete wall against the wire netting; and the old man, who had been getting a little restless himself, read

  the sign well. He stopped talking, created a pause, and we said goodbye.




  We went out again to the narrow lanes, where dim lights threw big shadows. Around the corner, a child was defecating in a patch of light. In somebody’s front room a big colour television

  set on a low stand flickered and flashed away, without anyone watching. Anwar said they had no television in their own house. His father said that television was against Islam.




  We came to where the low-roofed settlement ended, and Bombay proper began again. Beyond a boundary lane or road was a tall block of flats. The enemy were there. That was a Shiv Sena building,

  Anwar said. When there was trouble the people who lived in those flats threw bottles at the people who lived below.




  Past that building, we came to the roaring main road. We went to a small milk bar Anwar knew: fluorescent tubes, ceramic tiles, grey marble, a sink, tumblers of glass and stainless steel.




  I said to Anwar, ‘So you live constantly on your nerves?’




  Nikhil interpreted the reply. ‘It plays havoc with his nerves.’




  As worn-away as his father, his dark face thin and tremulous, he sipped at the milk he had ordered.




  He said, Nikhil translating directly for him now, ‘Those children. You have these clashes between children which turn into blood feuds with adults, and I feel helpless to do anything about

  it. Fights take place between neighbours all the time. When they are Hindus and Muslims – Hindus are in a minority here – it turns into a communal riot. It gets very bad during cricket

  matches. When there was the World Cup last year – the one-day cricket matches – people became nervous about the India-Pakistan matches. But then neither India nor Pakistan went into the

  finals. When Pakistan lost the first semi-final to Australia, the Hindus went wild, and they threw stones and broke the asbestos roofs of the huts.’




  How those fights troubled him! Both he and his father had spoken with special dread of fights between neighbours, and I wondered whether they had been talking about themselves. I tried to find

  out. I asked him about the blood feuds – was his family affected in some way?




  His reply was unexpected. ‘My brothers have the reputation of being goondas, thugs. They’re not the right kind of people. Because of this reputation, neighbours think twice

  before starting anything.’




  Tough brothers – they would, for some reason, have been physically quite different from Anwar and his father. Tough brothers, not the right kind of people – yet they enabled Anwar to

  talk tough himself. Did that little house contain them all?




  I asked Anwar, ‘That man next door, the man who came out to look at us – how do you get on with him?’




  ‘He’s studying at a college outside Bombay. You can just imagine the kind of brothers I have – I have six brothers, and my father still has to work.’




  Some family split here. Perhaps the brothers Anwar was talking about, the toughs, might have had a different mother.




  He said, ‘I don’t think of them as my brothers.’ But then immediately he softened that. ‘The environment has made them what they are. They had to become thugs, to

  survive. I will tell you this story about the foolhardiness of my brothers. You’ve been reading in the papers recently about the don who’s become the new king of the Bombay underworld.

  Some time ago, when this don got a contract to kill someone in the locality, he came on a reconnaissance to our area. And – you wouldn’t believe – one of my brothers picked a

  fight with him.’




  ‘What sort of man did the don have to kill?’




  ‘The man the don had to kill was in the business of sending people to the Middle East – manpower export – and he must have cheated someone. But my brothers saw this don as

  someone intruding on their turf. They exchanged insults and abuse, my brothers and the don, and each side said they would see what the other did. My brother got an Ambassador car and they packed it

  with weapons. They were planning to attack the don’s area, but someone tipped the police off, and my brothers were caught. They were released in a couple of days. Someone here bailed them

  out.’




  ‘Your brothers have money, then?’




  ‘They make money and then they start gambling.’




  ‘You would say that they, too, are living on their nerves?’




  ‘They don’t have the mental make-up I have. If the occasion arises, they will give their lives without a thought. It’s the environment.’




  In that talk of his thuggish brothers ready to give their lives there was, now, a kind of inverted pride, as when he had spoken of the fear his brothers inspired in the neighbours.




  I asked him about the riots of 1984. People spoke of them as a fearful Bombay event, historical, a marker.




  He seemed to blow at his milk, as if to cool it. But the milk wasn’t warm. That constant parting of his lips, that seeming expulsion of breath, was only a trick of the muscles of his thin

  face, part of the tremulousness of his face.




  He said, ‘That was when the will to fight came to me. I was in the final year of the matriculation. There is a Muslim cemetery near Marine Drive, and there is a day near the Ramadan period

  when it is necessary to visit that cemetery. A group from this area went. At two o’clock in the morning we were walking back home. Some of us were wearing skullcaps, Muslim caps. We passed a

  Shiv Sena stronghold. We were pelted with stones. We complained to some policemen. They didn’t listen. In fact, they followed us for two miles. They thought we were the troublemakers. That

  was the first sign we had of the riot. Before that night there had been no sign of any trouble. Actually, the real trouble was very far away, about 25 kilometres from here.’




  It became hard in the milk bar to hear what Anwar was saying. Above the noise of traffic in the road, there were now querulous voices in the bar itself, Indian voices, specially edged to cut

  through most sounds of man and machine – above all, the rising and falling cicada sound of motor-car hooters.




  Anwar said, ‘We returned to this area about three o’clock in the morning. Some of us were bleeding from the stones, and people asked us what had happened. I should tell you that on

  that night, shab-e-baraat, Muslims stay awake right through.




  ‘The next day I had forgotten about the incident. But when I went with a friend to a house near here, I found it full of weapons. That was the doing of one of the big dons. His men had

  stocked up, to retaliate. Soon after, firing began in the locality. There was curfew throughout the day, and then they banned gatherings of more than five people. In the colony itself – the

  area where he lived – ‘police infiltrated to check whether people had weapons.’




  ‘Did the presence of the police calm people down?’




  ‘I have no confidence in the police. I will tell you. You can’t kill cows in public here – there’s an abbattoir you have to take your cows to. But you can pay a

  policeman, and kill a cow in public. When goats have to be sacrificed at the festival of Id, most Muslims take their goats to the abbattoir to have them slaughtered. But there are some local hoods

  who insist on killing the goats in public. It’s a macho act, to challenge the police. When the police come, the hoods say, “If you interfere, you won’t leave here alive.”

  ‘




  He had slid away from the subject of the riots of 1984; he had gone back to the subject of the toughs.




  I said, ‘These fights with the police excite you?’




  He said, with some solemnity, ‘It is exciting. I like it. It happens because the police discriminate against the Muslims, and the Muslims have contempt for the police.’




  ‘But what’s the point of the game?’




  He didn’t answer directly. He said, ‘There are very few sensible people among the Muslims.’ He spelt out the Urdu word he had in mind for ‘sensible’:

  samajdar. ‘There are few educated Muslims here. People who are educated will never get involved in that kind of fighting.’ He seemed slightly to have changed his attitude to the

  fighters.




  ‘So it will just go on?’




  He said, with his curious mixture of melancholy and acceptance, ‘I see no end to it. I don’t see how it can end.’




  ‘How did the riots end that time?’




  ‘Mrs Gandhi came and asked people to try to settle things. But things get settled and then – they burst out again.’




  I thought of the narrow lanes and the low wire-netting dwellings, with sleeping lofts below the fragile asbestos roofs. ‘What was life like during the riots? Did people sleep?’




  ‘When there are riots, you don’t know the meaning of sleep. You can’t sleep. It’s a big sin if someone of your faith is assaulted and you do nothing about it.’




  ‘Don’t you think that someone like you should be trying to live somewhere else?’




  ‘I can’t take such a step.’ It was what I thought he would say. ‘There are so many family ties. It is mandatory for a Muslim to honour those ties.’ Family, faith,

  community: they made a whole. ‘What advice would you give a younger brother, or someone coming up?’




  The advice wasn’t about going away or breaking out. It was more immediate. It was about surviving, here. ‘I would tell him that he should think of retaliating and fighting back only

  if the person in front of him has made a mistake.’




  ‘Mistake?’




  ‘If someone abuses you, for instance.’




  Abuse, quarrels, fights within and without: that was the world he lived in, and, physically, was so little equipped for.




  I mentioned the slogan I had seen: LIBERATE HUMANITY THROUGH ISLAM.




  He said, ‘I agree with it totally.’




  ‘When did you learn about Islam?’ How, living where he did, would he have had the time, the privacy, the calm?




  ‘I learned from my parents. And I’ve also read the Koran.’




  ‘There are so many people in Bombay who feel they know the way to liberate humanity.’




  He appeared to change his point of view. ‘It’s the nature of the world. When people gather in groups, each one will say that his is better than the others.’




  I thought again of the family with the big colour television set near his house. I asked about them.




  ‘They have a business, making ready-made clothes. They make a little money.’




  People in business, making money, and yet living here: it was proof again of what people said, that all you required in Bombay was accommodation. Once you had a place to sleep, anywhere, on a

  pavement, in a hut, in a corner of a room, you could get a job and make money. But – did the people with the television set show off a little?




  The people with the TV and the tailoring business didn’t show off, Anwar said. But my question had touched something. He said, ‘They know that TV is forbidden in their

  religion.’ Then, as often, Anwar softened what he said. ‘But they don’t want their children to go to other houses to watch TV, and to be turned away. That can cause

  trouble.’




  ‘Why do you think so many of the dons in Bombay are Muslims?’




  ‘I’ve told you. There are few educated people among the Muslims. They go off the rails when they’re young.’




  ‘Are they religious people, these dons?’




  ‘They are all loyal adherents of Islam.’




  ‘Defenders of the faith?’




  ‘It is inevitable that they will fight for Islam. It is a contradictory role. They will continue their criminal activities, but at the same time they will read the Koran and do the

  namaaz five times a day. The community does not admire these people. But the people are enchanted by the way the dons behave with the common Muslims.’




  ‘They are the community’s warriors?’




  ‘They organize our underground. Tanzeen-Allah-ho-akbar – that’s what it’s called. It is organized by a don. It was created after the riots. We have meetings and

  decide strategy. We meet every month, even if there is no trouble.’




  ‘What do you think will happen to the children in your colony?’




  ‘The future is awful for them. All those children see murder, assaults.’




  ‘Have you seen murders?’




  ‘Yeh, yeh.’ It was an Indian affirmation, rather than American or English, and it was spoken with a side-to-side swing of the head in the Indian way.




  The bar-owner had begun to talk loudly to the bar in general about the people at the far end – he meant us – who had been occupying a table for too long. I was going to leave a fair

  sum for him, but he wasn’t to know that. I had my back to him, and I thought I shouldn’t turn around to look at him; I thought that if our eyes met he might be driven to a deeper rage.

  Nikhil, who had been facing him all the time, and occasionally reporting on his mood, ordered gulab jamun for everybody; and Anwar, who had already worked his way through two tumblers of

  milk, began – appearing all the while to blow at it – to eat a portion of that rich milk sweet, steeped in syrup.




  He said, ‘I saw my first murder when I was ten. We were playing badminton in the colony. There was a hut close by, and there were two men who began to quarrel. These two men usually slept

  on the same hand-cart at night. They were both about thirty. They had begun to quarrel, and then I saw one of the men running away. We went to see what had happened, and we saw that the man on the

  hand-cart had had his head nearly severed. He wasn’t dead. He was in the throes of death.’




  ‘What clothes?’




  ‘Underwear. Shorts and a singlet. And the body in the throes of death caused the hand-cart to capsize.’




  ‘People ran up?’




  ‘Only children. About six or seven of us. And as the body fell to the ground, it spurted blood on us. I was very frightened.’ He began to laugh, eating his sweet, sucking at the

  thick syrup in his aluminium spoon. It was the first time he had laughed that evening. ‘We were still children. It didn’t occur to us that this was a police matter. Our first reaction

  was to go and wash the bloodstains off our shirt.’




  ‘How many murders have you seen since then?’




  ‘Ten or 12.’




  ‘Why do you laugh?’




  ‘It’s part of everyday life to us here. The reasons for those murders are very small. For instance, one day two men with umbrellas had a little collision. One man went to hit the

  other man, and the other man ran into a house, and the man chasing him ran in after him. I was talking to a friend just there, and I saw it. The man doing the chasing pulled out a knife and killed

  the other man, just like that. Eighty per cent of people in this locality carry weapons.’




  The bar-owner hadn’t been pacified by the extra orders for gulab jamun; he had continued to complain. And when Anwar finished his sweet, we prepared to leave. My thoughts went back to the

  people with the big television set.




  ‘The people with the TV – are they very religious?’




  ‘They are devout people. They are more religious in some ways and less religious in others.’




  ‘In what ways more religious?’




  ‘They offer namaaz five times a day. I offer namaaz only once.’




  Formal prayers five times a day – and yet, to Anwar and his father, that faith, obsessive as it was, was flawed.




  ‘Can you see yourself living without Islam?’




  ‘No.’




  ‘What does it give you?’




  ‘Brotherhood. Brotherhood in everything. Islam doesn’t teach discrimination. It makes people help people. If a blind man is crossing the road, the Muslim doesn’t stop to find

  out what creed he belongs to. He just helps.’




  ‘What do you think will happen to your colony?’




  ‘I don’t see any solution.’




  ‘It will just go on as it is? You really think it will be the same when you reach your father’s age?’




  ‘Yes.’




  ‘You don’t ever think of going away?’




  ‘At the moment I have no intention to do so.’




  ‘Are you a Sunni?’




  He looked surprised. He didn’t think that I would know about Sunnis. To him his faith was something secret, something outsiders couldn’t really know about.




  I wanted to know whether there were other Muslim groups or sects in his colony. I asked whether there were Ismailis or Ahmadis among them. He said he had never heard of those groups. Were there

  Shias?




  ‘There are no Shias in the community.’




  ‘Isn’t that strange?’




  ‘I don’t find it strange.’




  His orthodox faith was the one pure thing he had to hold on to. He couldn’t imagine life without it. It was a stringent faith. It shut out television; it had no room for heretics. All the

  many rules and celebrations and proscriptions were part of the completeness of Anwar’s world. Take away one practice, and everything was threatened; everything might start to unravel. It was

  correct, for instance, for Muslim men to pee squatting; and I heard later, from someone who worked with Anwar, that Anwar insisted on doing this at the modern urinals in his place of work, though

  it created problems for him.




  Many of the people one saw on the streets and in offices lived in a small space. From small spaces, every morning, they came out fresh and clean and brisk. Whole families, not

  slum-dwellers or pavement-dwellers, lived in one room; and they might live in the same room for a generation.




  Mr Raote had grown up in a family like that. He was one of the earliest members of the Shiv Sena; he had been among the 18 people, no more, at the very first Shiv Sena meeting in 1966. Now, with

  the victory of the Sena in the municipal elections, he was a man of authority, chairman of the Standing Committee of the Bombay Corporation. He had his own little office in the Victorian-Gothic

  Corporation building, with a waiting room and a secretary and straight-backed chairs for people with petitions and needs. But he had lived for the first 28 years of his life in the one room where

  he had been born, in the suburb of Dadar, in mid-town Bombay.




  In Dadar Mr Raote now lived in the top flat of a tall block he had built himself, after he had turned developer in his thirties. But the tenement with the one room which had been his home for

  more than half his life was within walking distance, and he took me to see it one morning.




  We took the lift to the ground floor of his building, went out to the sandy front yard, went from the front to the back through a passage in the building, between shops with stylish signboards;

  and from the back walked to the next main road. Mr Raote was very well known; his walk created a little stir; people were respectful. It couldn’t have been open to many people to have the

  past (and a triumphant return to it) so accessible, just at the end of a short walk.




  We turned off, very soon, from the footpath of the main road into a yard with an old two-storey building. We went round to the back and went up the steps at the side of the building to a

  verandah or gallery at the top. This verandah (like the one on the lower floor) ran the length of the building, and the floor was laid in the Maharashtrian way with slabs of stone. Separate rooms

  opened into the verandah. The room at the end was where Mr Raote’s family had lived.




  We looked in from the doorway, and saw new carpentry and paint, in contemporary styling and colours. ‘It’s been done up,’ Mr Raote said. The room next to it was darker and

  plainer; it was more like the room Mr Raote had known. It was about 15 feet deep by 10 feet wide, with a kitchen at the back and with a loft for storage and sleeping. All the rooms on that upper

  floor had a common bathroom and toilet.




  Before we had come over, Mr Raote had said, ‘My father made us study. You will recognize the difficulty when you visit the spot.’




  And now, standing in the verandah where he had walked and run thousands of times, looking down at the yard which would have been shared with all the people from all the rooms in the building, I

  wondered how life had been lived in that small space, how five brothers and two sisters and father and mother had managed. How did children sleep and play and get ready for school?




  Mr Raote said his father and mother used to awaken the children at four in the morning. Between four and seven they did their exercises – running, push-ups – and they studied. They

  had to do it all before seven. What made it difficult after that? The crowd in the building and yard, the noise? Mr Raote said, ‘The atmosphere.’




  As a top Shiv Sena man, Mr Raote had a reputation for roughness. And he had been a little rough with me when I was taken to his office to be introduced to him. When he understood that I

  wasn’t looking for material for another hostile interview, that I was more interested in his background and development, his manner changed. He was interested in his own story; his idea of

  himself was of a man who had struggled.




  He was now chairman of the Standing Committee of the Corporation, he said; but his first job in the Corporation had been as a clerk, in 1965, when he was twenty-one, and his salary then had been

  218 rupees a month, £16. He offered that fact almost as soon as we began to talk seriously. And then he offered another: when he was a boy, he said, he used to help his father make

  coffins.




  I liked that detail. He liked it too. He wanted to tell the rest of the story. He asked me to come to his flat in Dadar, and he sent his Ambassador car for me early one morning. The windows of

  the car had the dark tinting that had become fashionable in Bombay; there were two small plastic fans that made for fair comfort; and on the dashboard there was a little picture of Hanuman, the

  deity who stood for strength.




  When I was taken up to the flat, Mr Raote was still doing his puja. Waiting, I went out to the terrace and looked at the view north and south, all the great length of Bombay, unexpectedly green

  from this height. When Mr Raote had finished his puja, I went into the sitting room, and he began to talk.




  ‘When I was born, my father was working as a mechanic in All-India Radio, AIR. This was in 1944. He was getting 300 rupees a month. It was sufficient. I grew up thinking of myself as lower

  middle class. We had no luxuries, but we had enough to eat. We used to have a kind of soaked-wheat cereal in the morning, satva. You become very strong if you eat that. It takes two hours to

  prepare.




  ‘I studied up to nth standard in Marathi. Then I joined the college. About this time my father retired from AIR, and he became a jack of all trades. There was a big drop in his earning. He

  used to earn 75 to 90 rupees a month as a carpenter in the film studio, working for many hours at a time.




  ‘He also used to go as a carpenter to prepare coffins. I used to go with him sometimes. Making coffins is a very specialized thing. It isn’t easy to get that bend at the shoulders.

  The plank has to be one; it mustn’t be cut. And you have to have a very good bottom in a coffin, because the whole pressure of the body falls on that bottom. We would get four annas, a

  quarter of a rupee, for a coffin for a small child. Twelve annas for a medium-size coffin. For a bigger-size coffin, six feet or six feet five inches, we used to get one rupee and a quarter. That

  was just for the labour. In a day we would be able to prepare five or six coffins. Normally a person wouldn’t go to make coffins. It’s a casteless occupation – not for a person of

  caste. But we did it for the cash.




  ‘My father wanted to see at least one of his children become a doctor. My sister was admitted to the college for science. I completed my own Inter Science studies. My first choice after

  this was for the military. I wanted to be an officer, but I had no one to advise me. I joined the Indian Navy training course in 1962, and went to the exams and all. But I was a month too old, so I

  had to come back again. Then I tried to become an engineer. It was hard to get into a school in Bombay. I got admission to the Sholapur Polytechnic – that’s far away from here. My

  father said he couldn’t pay the expenses, and he couldn’t. The expenses in Sholapur would have been 200 rupees a month. So I had to give that up too. That was in 1964. The next year I

  put my name down at the state employment exchange. We were still living in that one room. I joined St Xavier’s Technical Institute for evening classes.




  ‘So already there were these two or three failures in my life – not getting into the military, being too old for the navy training course, and not getting into an engineering school.

  It’s a frustration at that age. That’s the age when boys can develop ambition. If they don’t develop ambition, they start to drift.




  ‘My mother and father gave me encouragement, and my intention to do something in life was always there. I had the confidence.’




  I remembered what Mr Patil, the Shiv Sena area leader in Thane, had said about confidence, atma-vishwas: it had been given him by Ganpati. I asked Mr Raote whether he thought he had got

  his confidence from Ganpati.




  He said he had got his confidence from religion in the larger sense, rather than from Ganpati in particular. ‘He is not a special deity. Everything in India begins with Ganpati or Ganesh.

  No Hindu puja starts without him. The religion we have is from childhood. It is part and parcel of our life. No Hindu family will give up the morning puja. We have a special garment for the puja.

  Religion definitely gave us confidence. It built our character.




  ‘We are coming now to the most important aspect of my life. I’ve told you about my failures and frustration, and how I gave up and put my name down at the state employment exchange.

  In 1965 I took a job as a clerk in the Bombay Corporation. The salary was 218 rupees. Was that a good wage? To the man who has no earnings, whatever he earns is good. And my main ambition at this

  time was that my sister should become a doctor, as my father wanted. We did secure her admission to a medical college. And she was offered three scholarships – from the British Council,

  Tata’s, and somebody else. We chose Tata. They gave the complete tuition fee. The books we got from other people.’




  Mrs Raote had been in and out of the sitting room, but in a self-effacing way. Now, smiling, she came up to us with an open photograph album. She had heard us talking about religion, and the

  photographs she wanted to show were of a religious occasion: the thread ceremony for one of her sons. This prompted Mr Raote to go and bring out the unstitched length of cotton – mauve, with

  a band of another colour – which he wore when he did his puja. Mrs Raote was a pale-complexioned, handsome woman; and, as so often in Indian homes, the simple and apparently artless devotion

  of the wife to her husband was something that made an impression.




  Mrs Raote withdrew. The open album rested on the sofa. And Mr Raote went on with his story.




  ‘I should add something else at this point. In 1962, three years before I had taken the job with the Corporation, and at the beginning of the time of my failures and frustration, I had

  come across a weekly called Marmik. This was a cartoon weekly, the first in the Marathi language. It was edited by Bal Thackeray. He and his brother and his father wrote the whole paper.

  Marmik always had a big cartoon on the front cover. It was this that caught my eye. The circulation of the paper was about 35 or 40 thousand at that time.




  ‘And now, in 1965, with my sister in the medical college, and me in the Corporation as a clerk, and my father working as a carpenter in the film studio, Marmik really began to work

  on my mind. Every week the magazine spoke about the injustices done in Bombay and Maharashtra to the sons of the soil. And I found I was terribly attracted to the emotional personality of Bal

  Thackeray and his father, as expressed in the magazine. I even tried to meet Bal Thackeray. He was living in Shivaji Park.’




  Mr Raote waved to the west, to an area of green: Bombay from this height all clear before us, from the Gateway of India and the Fort area in the south, to the hills and suburbs of the north: the

  great city, from this height all its squalor lost below the green of trees, now truly Mr Raote’s own.




  ‘There was an announcement in Marmik in May 1966 about a youth organization that was to be founded. It was to be called the Shiv Sena. I started visiting Bal Thackeray’s

  house. Actually, the coconut was broken on the 19th of June 1966 at his house.’ The breaking of a coconut at the start of an important venture is with Hindus a kind of puja or religious act.

  ‘Eighteen people were there. At 8.20 in the morning.’




  ‘Was that time chosen by a pundit?’




  ‘No. It just happened. I was one of the 18 people there. Four of the 18 were from Bal Thackeray’s own house: Bal Sahib himself, his father, and his two brothers. The first meeting

  lasted about half an hour. It was in the main room of their small house. Their father occupied that room, being an old man. He wrote everything on a Marathi typewriter. It is still there in the

  house, as a memorial of him. It was Bal Thackeray’s father who gave the name Shiv Sena.’ Shiva’s Army. ‘It just seemed natural and right. And we pledged ourselves at that

  meeting to fight the injustices done to the sons of the soil.




  ‘That was how the Sena began. Bal Sahib used to hold small meetings here and there. Four months after the founding of the Sena he announced a public meeting on the issue of injustice. That

  meeting was to be on the 30th of October 1966. It had a tremendous response. Four to five lakhs.’ Between 400 and 500 thousand people. ‘And a number of gymnasiums in the town began to

  be attracted.’




  What were those gymnasiums? I had never heard of them before.




  ‘The gymnasium is a Maharashtrian institution. My father was too poor to send us to a gymnasium. But, as I told you, he made us run and exercise in the mornings. The gymnasium has been a

  Maharashtrian institution since the time of our great saint, Ramdas Swami. He was the guru of Shivaji.’ Shivaji, the warrior leader of the Marathas in the 17th century, the founder of Maratha

  military glory. ‘Ramdas was a very practical guru. His message in part was that you should exercise and keep your body fit. One of Ramdas’s famous sayings is, “Don’t talk.

  Act.” ‘




  And now again Mrs Raote came to us, this time with a big, thick book in Marathi. It was a book of Ramdas’s verses, a well printed modern edition, with a dust jacket. This made Mr Raote go

  and bring out some other big Marathi books: the verses of other classical Maratha teachers, Dineshwari, Tukaram, Eknath. These names were not really known to me. The books all looked new, and were

  well printed and well produced; but they were too bulky to handle easily, and I felt they were sacred household objects rather than books to be physically read. They were passed to me one by one,

  and I held them for a little and passed them back. They were then laid out on the sofa, next to the open photograph album with the snaps of Mr Raote in his puja cloth at the thread ceremony for his

  son.




  I wondered how, in the conditions of Bombay, in the conditions Mr Raote had grown up in, people had kept in touch with their sacred books.




  He said there had been no problem. ‘In a traditional Maharashtrian household the elders would recite, morning and evening, slokas or verses from the writings of the famous gurus, so

  that a child, whether he had actually read the texts or not, would be aware of those verses. Nowadays it’s done by tapes.’




  There was a small shelf of such tapes in Mr Raote’s sitting room, in a corner which seemed, from the objects laid out in it, to be a kind of holy or sacred corner.




  He said, ‘Maharashtra is a land of saints.’ He played a part of a tape with a chanting or singing of Ramdas’s verses – and the rhythms took me back 40 years and more to

  the Ramayana singing I had heard in my childhood. Ramdas’s verses had endured, Mr Raote said, because of their rhythm. ‘Ramdas’s slokas have a special, simple, repetitive

  rhythm.’ They were not musical for the sake of being musical. ‘They are addressed to the mind. Each and every Maharashtrian, even if he lives in a hutment, has a culture.’




  He stopped the tape, and returned to the story of the early days of the Shiv Sena. The Sena, the army of the land of saints, had caught on fast. But even as the Sena grew, Mr Raote’s

  personal life declined. Between the founding of the Sena, in June 1966, and the big public meeting four months later which established it as a power in Bombay, Mr Raote’s father died.




  ‘The whole family was now on my head, and I had to continue as a clerk in the Corporation. I’ve told you that my first choice was always for the military, and I applied at this time

  for the Air Force pilot aptitude test. I got through the preliminary test in Bombay. Out of 1500 in my centre, only 12 were selected for a further interview at Bangalore. I was one of the 12. I

  went to Bangalore, and I got through all the aptitude tests of the Air Force. But the most delicate test – the machine test – was the one I failed. As part of that test, 100 questions

  had to be answered in five minutes. The speed of the questions baffled me. I had had no guidance in these matters. You need to practise to answer 100 questions in five minutes. There are schools

  today training people for examinations like that. But not then. And this failure was added to my frustration at having to serve in the Corporation, although I was never interested in

  service.’




  I had noticed in other people this Indian use of the word ‘service’. In one way it was related to ‘civil service’; in another way it was related to the old-fashioned

  English use of ‘service’, meaning domestic service. The meaning of the word in India lay somewhere between the two. ‘Service’ in India stood for employment; but it also

  meant working for somebody else, working for wages, being dependent. (Mr Patil of Thane, for instance, speaking of his father who had worked for 40 years in the tool room of a factory, had said

  that his father had been ‘in service’.)




  ‘But I had to serve in the Corporation until my sister had got her M.B.S. degree. And I got married in 1968. My father-in-law and mother-in-law made me get married. I was doing the evening

  classes at St Xavier’s Technical Institute, and I would have preferred to get married after I had finished my studies. It was a love-match.’




  He used the English words, ‘love-match’, running them together and making ‘love’ rhyme with ‘how’, so that the words seemed to have become Marathi words.




  ‘We belonged to different castes. I used to give lessons at that time. She was one of my students. That was how this affair came up.’ This giving of lessons was unexpected, another

  side of the Corporation clerk. ‘She used to live over there, in that house.’




  From the top of the block where we were he waved to an area of green and roofs not far away: Bombay, from here, an immense city, but the spaces he had moved in always small, village-like.




  ‘There was opposition to our association from both sides. The castes were different, but they were not all that different. Caste wasn’t the reason for the opposition. In our family

  we didn’t want love-match. Our tradition is the proposed marriage.’ The arranged marriage. ‘It was the same on her side. So my in-laws, or the people who became my in-laws,

  compelled me to get married. And this marriage became another burden.




  ‘To reduce this burden, I asked my wife to give up her studies and go into service. She gave up her studies and became a telephone operator. This was a government job, in the state

  secretariat. She got between 171 and 180 rupees a month, about f9, after the rupee devaluation. This was in 1969. We had a child in 1970. But, with my wife in service, I was not much worried

  by this.




  ‘Then at last, in 1972, my sister got her M.D. She informed me on the phone at 12 o’clock one day that she had got through. And that same day I resigned from the Corporation. Eight

  years I had been in service – while my sister was becoming a doctor, as my father wanted. The day she became a doctor, I resigned. I had no job to go to, but I resigned. All that we had was

  my wife’s job. Her job in the state secretariat had been a temporary one, but then fortunately she got a job as a telephone operator in the Corporation. It was an accident that she joined the

  Corporation when I left it.’




  During the later years of service there had been Mr Raote’s parallel life with the Sena. The Sena had risen, had begun to march, had become feared. In 1968 it had won more than a third of

  the seats in the Corporation. It had launched an agitation about the borders of Maharashtra; it had called a strike that had brought Bombay to a standstill for four days. Immigrants from South

  India had grown especially to fear the Sena. And Dadar, the suburb where we were – with a view of Shivaji Park, near where Bal Thackeray’s house was, and with a view of the two-storeyed

  tenement where Mr Raote and his family were still living at that time in their one room – Dadar, as Mr Raote said, was ‘the epicentre’ of the Shiv Sena earthquake.




  I had a memory myself of that early Sena time, from the other side. This was in 1967, a year after the Sena had been founded. I had been visiting a Parsi acquaintance. He was a

  ‘boxwallah’, as the word was in those days. A boxwallah was an executive in a big firm, usually a firm with foreign affiliations; and in those days, before the Indian industrial boom,

  to be a boxwallah was to be secure, even exalted. The man I knew had married a Hindu woman of a well known family; and it was surprising to hear now, from people who should have been far above the

  day-to-day stresses of Indian life, that this ‘mixed’ marriage had made them both liable to physical attack from the Sena in their area.

OEBPS/html/docimages/cover_ader.jpg
V. S. NAIPAUL

© 00 0000000000000 0e0000000000 0






OEBPS/html/page-template.xpgt
 

   
    
		 
    
  
     
		 
		 
    

     
		 
    

     
		 
		 
    

     
		 
    

     
		 
		 
    

     
         
             
             
             
             
             
             
        
    

  

   
     
  





OEBPS/html/docimages/title.jpg
V.S. NAIPAUL

India

A MILLION MUTINIES NOW

PICADOR





